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Air Arabia PJSC Board of Directors report 2021

The year 2021 witnessed a gradual recovery after the global impact of COVID 19 in all sectors
including the aviation sector. The tight cost scrutiny, and strong operational efficiency has led
to a very positive full year result given all the known circumstances.

Governments and airports have got a better hold of the pandemic, and the introduced
measures have had fewer negative impacts compared to 2020. The vaccination scheme that
the UAE government rolled out was a very successful one, under which 100% of our staff have
been vaccinated.

The pandemic is not over yet, we remain alert and cautious. However, the business sentiment
remains positive and follows a promising gradual pattern towards reinstating the full pre-
pandemic operational schedule.

Air Arabia business model remains resilient, and the dedication and contribution of each
member of the team has certainly made Air Arabia stand out during this year. The board of
directors is pleased and would like to thank the group employees for all their hard work.

Air Arabia Group is also developing a holistic approach to sustainability across all its
businesses which lead to underline why understanding, anticipating, and effectively
managing environmental, social and governance (ESG) matters is critical to delivering on
our mission to serve our clients, customers, and communities. ESG matters are important
consideration in how we do business, including our corporate governance systems that runs
at every level in the organization, risk management and methodology to serve customers
and support for local communities. Our main driver is the sustainability and efficiency
embedded in the culture and management of the airline. Equally important, we believe that
the core items that are critical of our ESG approach are practiced across the organization
through efficient operations and environment friendly practices. For Air Arabia, this means
we are leveraging our business and policy expertise, and presence to help drive an inclusive
recovery, expand, and accelerate sustainability.

Board of Directors
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Air Arabia PJSC, PO Box 132, Sharjah, United Arab Emirates & +971 6558 0008
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders of Air Arabia PJSC

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

Grant Thornton Audit
and Accounting Limited
{Dubai Branch)

The Offices 5

Level 3

Office 303

One Central, DWTC
Dubai, UAE

P.0.Box 1620

T +971 4 388 9925

F +971 4 388 9915

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Air Arabia PJSC (the “Company”), and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at December 31, 2021, the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity, and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present faitly, in all matetial respects,
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2021, and its consolidated financial
petformance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standatds on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Andit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with Code of
Ethics as issued by International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the requirements of the IESBA Code. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and approptiate to provide a basis for our opinion.

© 2021 Grant Tharnton UAE - All rights reserved. Grant Thornton UAE represents all legal licenses under which Grant Thornton Audit and Accounting Limited, A
British Virgin Islands registered company, operate in the UAE. These licenses Include the Abu Dhabi based branch — Grant Thornton Audit and Accounting Limited
— registered with the Abu Dhabi Global Market and the Dubai based branch — Grant Thornton Audit and Accounting Limited (BVI) — registered with the Dubai
Financial Services Authority.

“Grant Thornton” refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to
one or mere member firms, as the context requires. GTIL and the member firms are not 2 worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a separate legal
entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate,
one another and are not liable for one another's acts or omissions. 2

grantthornton.ae
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders of Air Arabia PJSC (continued)

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2021. These
matters wetre addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each
matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

i) Measurement of aircraft assets

As disclosed in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group holds as at December 31, 2021
aircraft assets with a carrying value of AED 5,038 million. As explained in Note 4, the Group's accounting
policy is to measure its aircraft assets at depreciated historical cost less impairment, if any. These aircraft
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful life, to an estimated residual value
at the end of its useful economic life. The estimation of residual value is a key management judgment in
the application of the Group's accounting policy on depreciation and, therefore, any changes to residual
value will directly impact the depreciation charge for the curtent and future years. Management also needs
to consider if there are any impairment indicators such as the deterioration in current or forecast trade
activity, the incurrence of losses ot other factors indicating that the assets may be impaired.

If there are impairment indicatots, management needs to perform an impairment test and write down the
value of assets where the recoverable amount is lower than the catrying value.

We have petformed the following audit procedures:

® We have assessed management's basis of estimating the residual values and depreciation rates of aircraft
assets and tested these to supporting information for reasonableness, such as any publicly or other
available information on estimated tesidual values and compated the depreciation rates to the tates
applied by other aitline companies;

®  We have assessed whether there ate any impairment indicators in respect of the aircraft assets; and

e We have assessed the adequacy of the Group's disclosure in these respects.

i) Revenue recognition

The Group recognises revenue from various sources, notably sale of passenger aitline seats, cargo, baggage
capacity and other ancillaty services. Passenger tickets sold can be of different types depending on the
conditions of sale and type of fare purchased. Revenue from passenger and cargo is deferred and classified
as a liability on the consolidated statement of financial position until the passenger or freight is lifted (l.e.
service provided), at which time revenue is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. This
recognition principle requires the Group to develop assumptions to determine when to recognise revenue
in respect of un-availed services relating to tickets not lifted at the anticipated date of travel.

The accounting for passenger revenue is susceptible to management override of controls through the
recording of manual journal entries in the accounting records, the ovetride of IT systems to accelerate
fevenue recognition, or manipulation of inputs used to calculate revenue recorded in respect of unused
revenue documents.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders of Air Arabia PJSC (continued)

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Key Audit Marters (continued)

ii) Revenue recognition (continued)

We have performed the following audit procedutes:

® We have evaluated the Group's control envitonment and the application controls relating to the
underlying systems associated with the revenue streams. In particular, we have considered whether the
Group's controls relating to revenue are properly designed and implemented to ensure that those
systems were accurately capturing the relevant data such as date of sale, date of the provision of the
setvice to the customers and the sale amount;

® We have checked the reasonableness of the Group's accounting policy with respect to recognition of
revenue in the period in which the service was provided to the customets;

® We have reviewed management's judgement and assumptions underpinning the estimates of when to
recognise revenue in respect of un-availed services;

® We have checked the reasonableness of the Group's accounting policy with respect to recognition of
revenue for expired tickets;

® For passenger revenue, we have performed analytical procedures by comparing the passenger revenue
for 2021 with the passenger revenue for 2020 and 2019, and undetstood the reasons for the vatiance
taking into consideration key performance indicatots for 2021, 2020 and 2019;

® TFor cargo revenue, we have tested the revenue pet ton cartied for 2020 and developed an expectation
for 2021 based on the tonnage carried, and compared the results with the catgo revenue recognised
and understood the reasons for the variance;

® We have also undertook other substantive audit procedures to cortoborate our findings in respect of
the audit tests above; and

® We have assessed the adequacy of the Group's disclosure on revenue recognition in the consolidated
financial statements.

iii) Accounting for fuel hedge positions

The Group is significantly exposed to fluctuations in the price of jet fuel and manages this risk through
derivative instruments to hedge its cash flows. The Group accounts for these hedge instruments in
accordance with IFRS 9 which requires, amongst other things, that the Group establish a risk management
framework that outlines a policy for the Group to conclude whether its hedging positions are effective or
ineffective, at the date of their inception and at each reporting date. The Group has established controls
around taking hedge positions and its risk management framework and policies.

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of the hedge instruments are recognised in the
consolidated statement of other comprehensive income until the forecasted transaction occurs, whilst any
ineffective portion is recognised directly in the consolidated statement of profit ot loss. Judgment is
exercised in arriving at this conclusion. As of December 31, 2021, the total fait value of the Group's cash
flow hedge instruments, obtained from counterparties, is a net asset of AED 273 million as disclosed in
note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders of Air Arabia PJSC (continued)

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Key Audit Matters (continued)
iii) Accounting for fuel hedge positions (continued)

We have performed the following audit procedures:

® We have evaluated the design and implementation of the Group's controls over taking hedge positions
and application of its policies. This included testing the reasonableness of the Group's hedge positions
at the date of inception and at each reporting date, along with Group's accounting for its hedge
position;

® We have also involved our valuation specialist for assessing the Group's hedge accounting, and for
testing hedge effectiveness on sample basis; and

® We have assessed the adequacy of the Group's disclosure in these respects.

iv) Valuation of aircraft maintenance obligations

Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements shows a balance for maintenance liabilities amounted to
AED 1,572 million as at December 31, 2021. The accounting for maintenance obligations, including the
end of lease hand-back requirements, is subject to management assumptions. These assumptions include
estimating maintenance accrual for major inspections and overhauls based on technical evaluation of the
number of houts flown by each engine, airframe checks at fixed intervals and utilization cycles of landing
gears, life limited parts and auxiliary powet units. It also includes the cost of petforming the required
maintenance wotk at that future return date of leased aircrafts. There is a risk of maintenance and hand-
back obligations included in lease agreements being accounted for inappropriately.

We have performed the following audit procedures:

® We have made enquiries of management to establish if there were any new lease ot maintenance
contracts entered during the year;

e  For the ongoing maintenance work under flying hour agreements, we have confitmed that the expenses
were recognised at the conttactual flying hour rates and checked a sample of the actual flying hours to
the Group’s operating system to confirm that the expenses recognised wete complete and accurate;

® We have validated that the cost drivers of majot types of maintenance accrual for appropriateness and
teasonableness;

® We have verified the utilization of maintenance accrual during the year for routine and non-routine
expenses;

® We have validated the main reason for change in the maintenance accrual balance as at year end;

® We have evaluated the design and implementation of the Group’s controls over the maintenance
accrual made durting the year; and

® We have petformed additional substantive audit procedures to cotroborate our findings in respect of
the audit tests above.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders of Air Arabia PJSC (continued)

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information, The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and out Auditot’s
Report thereon. We have obtained the Board of Directors’ repott ptior to the date of our Auditot’s Report,
and we expect to obtain the remaining sections of the Annual Report after the date of our Auditor’s Report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and
accordingly, we do not exptess any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is matetially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that
we have obtained prior to the date of auditor’s report, we conclude that there is 2 material misstatement of
this other information, we ate required to teport that fact. We have nothing to report in this regatd.

Responsibilities of the Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with IFRS, and their preparation in compliance with the applicable provisions of
the UAE Fedetral Law No. (2) of 2015, as amended, and for such internal control as management determines
is necessaty to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud ot ettot,

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease
opetrations, ot has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as 2
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or errot, and to issue an auditot’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstaternents can atise from fraud or etror and ate considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders of Air Arabia PJSC (continued)

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of matetial misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud ot error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those tisks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The tisk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, mistepresentations, ot the override of internal
control;

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s intetnal control;

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management;

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists telated to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements of, if such disclosures ate inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our auditor’s report. However, future events ot conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue

as a going concern;

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the undetlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation; and

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the
ditection, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion,

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify duting out audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requitements regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related

safeguatds.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders of Air Arabia PJSC (continued)

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the cutrent year and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that
a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Furthermore, as required by the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015, as amended, we report that for the year
ended December 31, 2021:

i) we have obtained all the information and explanations we considered necessary for the purposes of our
audit;

if) the consolidated financial statements have been prepared and comply, in all material respects, with the
applicable provisions of UAE Fedetal Law No. (2) of 2015, as amended;

iif) the Group has maintained proper books of account;

iv) the financial information included in the Directors’ report, in so far as it relates to these consolidated
financial statements, is consistent with the books of account of the Group;

v) as disclosed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group has purchased new shares
during the year ended December 31, 2021;

vi) Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements discloses related party transactions, and the terms
under which they were conducted;

vil) based on the information that has been made available to us, nothing has come to our attention which
causes us to believe that the Group has contravened during the financial year ended December 31,
2021 any of the applicable provisions UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015, as amended, ot of the
Company’s Articles of Association, which would materially affect its activities or the Group’s financial
position as at December 31, 2021; and

viif) There have been no social conttibutions during the year.

)
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Air Arabia PJSC and its subsidiaries
Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated statement of financial position
As at December 31, 2021

Notes 2021 2020
AED'000 AED'000
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property and equipment 5 5,868,484 6,367,172
Right-of-use assets 6 624,390 575,262
7
8

Advance for new aircraft 381,367 360,281
Investment properties 105,970 105,970
Net investment in lease 14 17,406 32,008
Intangible assets 9 1,332,131 1,324,106
Deferred charges 10 30,965 33,476
Investments at fair value through other

comprehensive income 11 15,556 10,772
Investments in associates and joint ventures 12 177,949 92,657
Trade and other receivables 14 111,257 29,044

8,665,475 8,930,748

Curtent assets

Inventories 23,504 25,569
Trade and other receivables 14 739,342 497,741
Other investments at amortized cost 16.1 - 50,000
Bank balances and cash 16 3,878,006 3,148,943
4,640,852 3,722,253
TOTAL ASSETS 13,306,327 12,653,001
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Share capital 17 4,666,700 4,666,700
Statutory reserve 18 639,834 577,475
General reserve 19 78,832 16,473
Othet reserves 284,741 (560,549)
Retained earnings/ (accumulated losses) 404,859 (192,183)
Total equity 6,074,966 4,507,916
Non-current liabilities
Provision for staff termination benefits 20 144,637 131,384
Trade and other payables 21 1,350,039 1,792,124
Finance lease liabilities 23 2,584,174 3,072,643

4,078,850 4,996,151

Current liabilities

Deferred income 492,131 301,400
Trade and other payables 21 1,970,313 1,635,942
Short term bank borrowings 24 37,634 551,948
Finance lease liabilities 23 652,433 659,644

3,152,511 3,148,934
Total liabilities 7,231,361 8,145,085
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 13,306,327 12,653,001

These ionsnliduted financial statements wep¢ hpproved and authorised for issue by the Boatd of Directors

on lf FEB ZUZZ and slg} o

//—7 — ’L_;——" ]

LT

Chairman = * Chief Executive Officer Director of Finance
-~

The accompanying notes from 1 to 38 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Air Arabia PJSC and its subsidiaries
Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated statement of profit or loss
For the year ended December 31, 2021

Revenue

Direct costs

GROSS PROFIT

Administrative and general expenses
Selling and marketing expenses
Finance income

Finance costs

Shate of profit/(loss) on investments in associates and joint
ventures

Other income, net

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR

Basic and diluted earnings/(losses) per share (AED)

Notes

25

26

27

28

12

29

30

2021 2020
AED'000 AED'000
3,174,122 1,850,966

(2,291,249)  (1,800,242)

882,873 50,724
(198,498) (196,361)
(41,420) (34,427)
62,882 101,989
(137,762) (138,070)
89,699 (15,933)
62,153 39,895
719,927 (192,183)
0.15 (0.04)

The accompanying notes from 1 to 38 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Air Arabia PJSC and its subsidiaries
Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended December 31, 2021

Note
Profit/(loss) for the year

Other comprehensive income/ (loss)
Items that will never reclassified subsequently
1o profit or loss:
Change in fair value of investments at fair
value through other comprehensive 11

Tiems that are or may be reclassified subsequently
1o profit or loss:

Cash flow hedge

Effective portion of changes in fait value

Total other comprehensive income/ (loss)
for the year

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME /(LOSS)
FOR THE YEAR

2021 2020
AED'000 AED'000
719,927 (192,183)
8,391 (310)
838,732 (437,486)
847,123 (437,796)
1,567,050 (629,979)

The accompanying notes from 1 to 38 form an integral patt of these consolidated financial statements,

11
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Air Arabia PJSC and its subsidiaries
Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated statement of cash flows
For the year ended December 31, 2021

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit/ (loss) for the year
Adjustments to reconcile profit/ (loss) to net cash flows:

Depreciation and amortization
Provision for staff terminal benefits

Allowance for expected credit losses for trade and other receivables

Ineffective portion of cash flow hedge

Write off of intangible assets

Loss on sale of property and equipment
Provision for impairment of investment property

Share of (profit)/loss on investments in associates and joint ventures

Finance income
Finance costs
Operating cash flows before changes in working capital

Changes in working capilal:
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other payables
Deferred income
Cash from operations
Staff terminal benefits paid
Net cash flow from operating activities

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Payment of investments in a joint venture

Acquisition of property and equipment

Payments in relation to advances for new aircrafts-net

Increase in deferred charges

Dividends received from investments in associates
and joint ventures

Proceeds from disposal of investments at fair value through OCI

Proceeds from disposal of other investments

Receipts in relation to aircraft lease deposits

Acquisition of intangible assets

Change in fixed and margin deposits

Finance income received

Net cash flow (used in)/from investing activities

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Dividends paid to Ownets of the Company
Payments of principle portion of lease liabilities
Net movement on borrowings

Finance costs paid

Net cash flow used in financing activities

Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

Adjustments for:
Bank balances and cash
Fixed deposits with maturity over 3 months

Notes

5,6,9,10

20

23

16
16

2021 2020
AED'000 AED'000
719,927 (192,183)
620,485 508,495
17,004 25,112
27,257 14,856

. 66,620

- 3,211

- 1,090

. 19,000
(89,699) 15,934
(62,882) (101,989)
137,762 138,070
1,369,854 588,216
2,064 2,072)
515,015 89,985
(125,281) 198,154
190,732 (50,125)
1,952,384 824,158
(3,751) (38,857)
1,948,633 785,301
(3,588) (35,997)
(31,376) (28919)
(21,086) .
(3,935) @,771)
7,995 5,000
3,607 3
50,000 118,374

- 19,861
(10,366) (17,626)
(296,195) 160,883
37,580 67,595
(267,364) 281,400
= (420,003)
(627,325) (231,317)
(514,314) 199,732
(106,763) (111,739)
(1,248,402) (563,327)
432,867 503,374
715,898 212,524
1,148,765 715,898
3,878,006 3,148,943
(2,729.241)  (2433045)
1,148,765 715,898

The accompanying notes from 1 to 38 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Air Arabia PJSC and its subsidiaries
Consolidated Financial Statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the year ended December 31, 2021

1 Legal status and principal activities

Air Arabia PJSC (the “Company") was incorporated on June 19, 2007 as a Public Joint Stock Company.
The Company operates in the United Arab Emirates under a trade license issued by the Economic
Development Department of the Government of Sharjah and Air Operatot's Certificate Number AC 2
issued by the General Civil Aviation Authority, United Arab Emirates.

The Company's ordinaty shates are listed on the Dubai Financial Market, United Arab Emirates. The
registered office address is P.O. Box 132, Sharjah, United Arab Emirates.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2021 includes the consolidated
financial performance and position of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively refetred to as the
“Group") and the Group's interest in associates and joint ventures.

The licensed activities of the Group are international commercial air transportation, aircraft trading, aircraft
rental, aircraft spare parts trading, travel and toutist agencies, commercial broketage, hotels, hotel apartment
rentals, airline companies' representative office, passengers transport, cargo services, air catgo agents,
documents transfer services, aviation training and aircraft repairs and maintenance.

The details of the Group's ownership in its various subsidiaties, joint ventures and associates and their

principal activities are as follows:
Legal/ beneficial Country of
ownership interest operation and

Name 2021 2020 Ownership Principal activities
Subsidiaries
Arabian Management 100% 100%  United Arab Business consultancy setvices.
Investment FZE Emirates
International Business Company (FZE)' 100% - United Arab Dealing in International Business
Emirates and shares

Air Arabia Holidays L.L.C 100% 100%  United Arab Tour opetations
Emirates

Information System Associates FZC 100% 100%  United Arab IT services to aviation industry.
Emirates

Action Hospirality 100% 100%  United Arab Hospitality ~ services, tourism,
Emirates managing and opetating restaurants

and hotels.
COZMO Travel LLC 100% 100%  United Arab Travel and tours, tourism and cargo
Emirates services.

Subsidiaries of COZMO Travel LLC (sub-subsidiaries)

COZMO Travel WLL 100% 100%  Qatar Travel and touss, tourism and cargo

services.

COZMO Travel Limited Company 100% 100%  Kingdom of Travel and tours, tourism and cargo

Saudi Arabia services.

COZMO Travel LLC 100% 100%  Kuwait Travel and tours, tourism and cargo

services,

COZMO Travel LLC 100% 100%  Bahrain Travel and touts, tourism and cargo

services.

COZMO Travel World 100% 100%  United Arab Travel agent.

Emirates

COZMO Travel (Private) Limited 100% 100%  India Travel and touts, toutism and cargo

services.

COZMO Travel World (Prdvate) 100% 100%  India Travel and tours, tourism and cargo
Limited services.

Al Sayara limousine Passengers 100% 100%  United Arab Passengers transport services by
Transport Per Person Company Emirates rented cars, buses and limousine.
Owner COZMO Travel LLC

Ibyta Travels L.L.C 100% 100%  United Arab Travel and tours, tourism services.

Emirates
COZMO Travel LLC 100% 100%  Oman Travel and tours, tourism setvices.
Al Magqar for Toutism and Travel 100% 100%  Jordan Travel and tours, tourism services.

15



Air Arabia PJSC and its subsidiaries
Consolidated Financial Statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended December 31, 2021

1 Legal status and principal activities (continued)

Legal/ beneficial Country of

ownership interest operation and
Name 2021 2020 ownership Principal activities
Subsidiaries of COZMO Travel
LLC (sub-subsidiaries) (continned)
Gocozmo Business Support 100% 100% Egypt Travel and tours, tourism
Services L.L.C. services.
Joint ventures
Alpha Flight Services UAE 51% 51% United Arab Flight and retail catering
LILC Emirates and ancillary services to the
Air Arabia PJSC.
Sharjah Aviation Services 50% 50% United Arab Aircraft handling,
LILC Emirates passenger and  cargo
setvices at the Shatjah
International Airport.
Alpha  Aviaton Academy 51% 51% United Arab Aviation training services.
UAE LLC Emirates
Air  Arabia Abu Dhabi 49% 49% United Arab International commercial
LLC** Emirates air transportation,
Air Arabia - Egypt Company 40% 40% Egypt International commercial
S.A.E. air transportation.
Fly Jinnah Services (Private) 45% . Pakistan International commercial
Limited air transportation.
Armenian National Airlines 49% - Armenia International commercial
(CJSC) (“Fly Arna”) air transportation.
Associates
Air Arabia Maroc, S.A % 44.13% 40% Morocco International commercial
air transportation.
Air Arabia Jordan LLC 49% 49% Jordan International commercial
air tIZ.ﬂSPOItEﬁO['].
Tune Protection Commercial 51% 51% United Arab Commercial brokers.
Brokerage LLC Emirates

During the year, the Group has entered into joint ventute agreements, through its wholly owned subsidiary,

Intetrnational Business Company (FZE) with Lakson Group, one of Pakistan's leading business

conglomerates and Armenian National Interests Fund (ANIF) to opetate low-cost cartiers from Pakistan

and Armenia, tespectively, under the name of Fly Jinnah Services (Private) Limited and Armenian National

Airlines (CJSC) (“Fly Arna”).

* This subsidiary was incorporated on September 6, 2020. However, it commenced commercial operations
on April 1, 2021.

*+ During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Group has entered into a joint venture agreement with
Etihad Airways Group PJSC to opetate first low-cost catrier from Abu Dhabi under the name of Air
Atrabia Abu Dhabi L.L.C.

*xEffective from April 1, 2021, the Group indirectly acquired additional shateholding of 4.13% in Air
Arabia Maroc, S.A., an associate through its wholly owned subsidiary “International Business Company

(FZE)”.
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Air Arabia PJSC and its subsidiaries
Consolidated Financial Statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended December 31, 2021

£ Basis of preparation
(a) Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs), and with the applicable requirements of U.A.E Federal
Law No. 2 of 2015, as amended. Federal Law By Decree No. 32 of 2021 on Commercial Companies (the
“New Companies Law”) was issued on September 20, 2021 with an effective date of January 2, 2022, and
will entirely replace Federal Law No. 2 of 2015 on Commetcial Companies. The Group has twelve months
from the effective date to comply with the provisions of the New Companies Law.

(b) Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for derivative
financial instruments and investments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
(FVOCI), which are measuted at their fair values.

(c) Functional and presentation currency

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Arab Emirates Ditham ("AED"), which is the
Group's functional currency. All values are rounded to the nearest thousands (‘000) except where noted
otherwise.

3 New or revised Standards or Interpretations

31 New Standards adopted as at 2021
Accounting pronouncements which have become effective in 2021 and have therefore been adopted are as
follows:

° COVID-19-related rent concessions beyond June 30, 2021 (Amendments to IFRS 16), and
° Interest Rate Benchmark Reform Phase 2 (Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and
IFRS 16).

These amendments do not have a significant impact on these consolidated financial statements and
therefore the disclosures have not been made.

3.2 Standards, amendments and Interpretations to existing Standards that are not
yet effective and have not been adopted early by the Group

Other Standards and Amendments that are not yet effective and have not been adopted early by the Group
include:

° References to the Conceptual Framework

® Proceeds before Intended Use (Amendments to IAS 16)

° Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract (Amendments to IAS 37)

° Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020 Cycle (Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9, IFRS
16); and

° Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (Amendments to IAS 1)

These amendments are not expected to have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements
in the period of initial application and therefore the disclosures have not been made.

4 Summary of significant accounting policies

Overall considerations

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the measurement bases specified by IFRS
for each type of asset, liability, income and expense. The significant accounting policies and measurement
bases are more fully described in the accounting policies in the following pages.

17



Air Arabia PJSC and its subsidiaries
Consolidated Financial Statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended December 31, 2021

4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Foreign currency transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency, using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions (spot exchange rate). Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the re-measurement of monetary items denominated in foreign
currency at period-end exchange rates are recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

Non-monetary items are not re-translated at period-end and are measured at historical cost (translated using
the exchange rates at the transaction date), except for non-monetaty items measured at fair value which are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when fair value was determined.

Foreign operations

In the consolidated financial statements, all assets, liabilities and transactions of the Group’s entities with a
functional currency other than the AED (the Group's presentation cutrency) are translated into AED upon
consolidation. The functional curtency of the entities in the Group has remained unchanged during the
reporting period.

On consolidation, assets and liabilities of foreign operations have been translated into AED at the closing
rate prevailing at the repotting date. Income and expenses of foreign operations have been translated into
the Group's presentation cutrency at the average rate over the reporting period. The exchange differences
arising on translation for consolidation ate recognised in other comprehensive income (OCI).

Basis of consolidation

'The consolidated financial statements comptise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaties
as at December 31, 2021. Control is achieved when the Company is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power
ovet the investee.

Specifically, the Company controls an investee if and only if the Company has:

a. power over the investee (i.e. existing tights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee);
. exposute, ot rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
c. the ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns,

When the Company has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Company
considets all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

a. The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;
b. Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
¢. 'The Company's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The Company re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that
there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins
when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Company loses control of the
subsidiary. Income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired ot disposed of duting the year are included in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income from the date the Company gains control until the date
the Company ceases to control the subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaties to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group's accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation. Unrealised losses ate also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of impairment
of the assets transferred.
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Air Arabia PJSC and its subsidiaries
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended December 31, 2021

4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCI) are attributed to the equity
holders of the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepated for the same reporting year as of the Company.

1f the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities,
non-controlling interest and other components of equity, while any resultant gain or loss is recognised in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Any investment retained is recognised at fair value.

Business combination and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of acquisition is measured
as the aggregate of the consideration transfetred, measured at acquisition date fair value and the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree. For each business combination, the acquirer measures the
non-controlling interests in the acquiree either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. Acquisition costs incurred are expensed and included in administrative and general
expenses.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financail assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embeded detivatives in host
contracts by the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquiret’s previously
held equity interest in the acquireece us remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date through the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed to
be an asset of liability will be recognised in accordance with IFRS 9 either in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income of as a change to other comprehensive income. If the contingent consideration is
classified as equity, it should not be re-measured untill is finally settled within equity. Other contingent
consideration that is not within the scope of IFRS 9, is measured at fair value at each reporting date wuth
changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and
the amount recognised for non-controlling interests over the net identifiable assets aquired and liabilities
assumed. If this consideration is lower than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiaty acquired, the
difference is recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the
putpose of impaitment testing, goodwill aquited in a business combination is, from the acquistion date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets ot liabilities of the acquireee are assigned to those units.

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed
of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the cartying amount of the
operation when determining the fain or loss on disposal of the operation. ‘goodwill disposed of in this
cirmustances is measured basedon the relative values of the operation disposed of and portion of the cash-
generating unit retained.
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4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Property and equipment

Property and equipment are initially recognised at cost, including any costs directly attributable to bringing
the assets to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended
by the Group’s management.

Land granted by the Government of Sharjah and acquired through the acquisition of Radisson Blu Hotel
and Resort is not depreciated, as it is deemed to have an infinite life,

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any identified impairment
losses.

The following estimated useful lives are applied:

® Buildings 15 — 20 years
e Aircrafts 15 years

e  Aircraft engines 20 years

®  Aircraft rotables and equipment 3 —10 years
e Airport equipment 3 —15 years
®  Other property and equipment including engine driven pumps (“EDP”) 3 -5 years

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of assets, other than capital work in progress and land,
over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values
and depreciation method are reviewed at each year end, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted
for on a prospective basis.

An item of property and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits
are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or
retirement of an item of property and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
Capital work in progress is stated at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Depreciation of these assets,
on the same basis as other property and equipment, commences when the assets are ready for their intended
use.

Government grants
Land granted by the government is tecognised at nominal value where there is reasonable assurance that

the land will be received and the Group will comply with any attached conditions, where applicable.

Leases and right-of-use assets

The Group has recorded right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets under
property and equipment, net investment in lease representing the net present value of receivables from
intermediate lease, and the corresponding lease liabilities to make lease payments under other liabilities.

The Group as a lessee

s Right-of-use assets

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any re-measurement of lease liabilities. The cost of
right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incutred, and lease
payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received. Unless the Group
is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the leased asset at the end of the lease term, the recognised
right-of-use assets is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the
lease term as follows:

®  Aircrafts 9 years
e Hanger 15 years

Right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment.
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4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Leases and right-of-use assets (continued)
I Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value
of lease payments to be made over the lease term. In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in
the lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the
cartying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a
change in the in-substance fixed lease payments or a change in the assessment to purchase the underlying
asset and is recognised under other liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position.

When measuring lease liabilities, the Group discounted lease payments using its incremental borrowing
rates range from 2.26 % to 5 % as applicable.

The Group as a lessor
IIr Net investments in leases

Leases in which the Group transfers substantially all the tisks and rewards incidental to the ownership of
an asset to the lessees are classified as finance leases. A receivable is recognised at an amount equal to the
present value of the minimum lease payments under the lease agreement, including guaranteed residual
value and unamortised initial direct cost which are included in the consolidated financial statements as "Net
investments in leases" within trade and other receivables.

V. Interest income on net investments in leases

The Group follows the finance lease method in accounting for recognition of finance lease. The total
unearned interest income, i.e. the excess of aggregate instalment contract receivables plus residual value
over the cost of the leased asset is deferred and then amortised over the term of the lease, to produce a
systematic return on net investments in leases.

V. The Group as an intermedjate lessor

The Group acts as an intermediate lessor in a transaction for which an underlying asset is re-leased by the
Group (‘intermediate lessor’) to a third party, and the lease (‘head lease’) between the head lessor and Group
remains in effect.

The Group classifies the sublease as a finance lease or an operating lease as follows:

e If the head lease is a shott-term lease that the entity, as a lessee, has accounted for by recognising
the lease payments as an expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease, the sublease
must be classified as an operating lease;

e  Otherwise, the sublease must be classified by reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the
head lease, tather than by reference to the economic useful life of the underlying asset (such as the
item of property and equipment that is the subject of the lease).

Investment properties

Investment propetties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. The carrying amount
includes the cost of replacing part of an existing investment property at the time that cost is incurred if the
recognition ctiteria are met; and excludes the costs of day to day servicing of an investment property.

Investment properties are derecognised when either they have been disposed of or when the investment
propetty is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal.
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4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Investment properties (continued)

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment property are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss in the year of retirement or disposal.

Transfers are made to investment propetty when, and only when, there is a change in use. For a transfer
from investment property to owner occupied propetty, the deemed cost for subsequent accounting is the
fair value at the date of change in use. If owner occupied property becomes an investment property, the
Group accounts for such property in accordance with the policy stated under property and equipment up
to the date of change in use.

Properties under construction

Properties under construction are carried at cost less any impairment in value. Costs are those expenses
incurred by the Group that ate directly attributable to the construction of asset.

The catrying values of properties under construction ate reviewed for impairment when events or changes
in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. If any such indication exists and where
the carrying values exceed the estimated recoverable amount, the assets are written down to their
recoverable amount.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquited in a business combination are identified and recognised separately from goodwill
where they satisfy the definition of an intangible asset and their fair values can be measured reliably. The
cost of such intangible assets is their fair value at the acquisition date.

The useful lives of intangible assets arising out of the acquisition of Air Arabia LLC in 2007, have been
estimated to be indefinite (Note 9).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination are reported at cost
less accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets acquired separately.

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the
specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure, including expenditure on internally generated
goodwill and brands, is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss as incurred.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when
there is indication of impairment. For intangible assets with definite useful lives amortisation is calculated
to write off the cost of intangible assets less their estimated residual values using the straight-line method
over their estimated useful lives and is generally recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
The useful life used in the calculation of amortisation is 5 years,

Deferred charges

Deferred charges are amortised on the straight-line method over the estimated period of the benefits.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net tealisable value. Cost comptises invoice price of materials.
Cost is calculated using the first-in-first-out method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling
price for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and opetating policy decisions of the investee but is not control of joint control

over those policies.
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4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Investments in associates and joint ventures (continued)

A joint venture is a type of joint atrangement whereby the parties have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control
of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about relevant activities require unanimous consent
of the parties sharing control. The consideration made in determining significant influence or joint control
are similar to those necessaty to determine control over subsidiaries.

The Group’s investments in its associates and joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method.
Under the equity method, the investment in an associate or joint venture is initially recognised at cost. The
carrying amount of the investment is adjusted to recognise changes in the Group’s share of net assets of
the associate or joint ventute since the acquisition date. Goodwill relating to the associate or joint venture
is included in the consolidated catrying amount of the investment and goodwill is neither amortised nor
individually tested for impaitment. The consolidated statement of profit ot loss reflects the Group’s share
of the results of operations of the associates and joint ventures. Any change in other comprehensive income
of those investees is presented as part of the Group’s consolidated statement of other comprehensive
income.

In addition, when there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate or joint venture,
the Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity. Unrealised gains/losses resulting from transaction between the Group and the associate or joint
venture are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the associate or joint venture.

The aggregate of the Group’s shate of profit or loss of an associate and joint venture is shown on the face
of the consolidated statement of profit or loss outside operating profit. The financial statements of the
associate or joint ventute are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group. When necessary,
adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group.

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an
impairment loss on its investment in its associate or joint venture. At each reporting date, the Group
determines whether there is objective evidence that the investment in the associate or joint venture is
impaired. If there is such evidence, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference
between the recoverable amount of the associate or joint venture and its carrying value and then recognises
the loss in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint control over the joint venture, the Group
measures and recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying
amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control and the fair value
of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in consolidated statement of profit or
loss.

If the ownership interest in a joint venture or an associate is reduced but joint control or significant
influence is retained; only a proportionate share of the amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.

Impairment of non-financial assets

At the end of the reporting date, the Group reviews the catrying amounts of tangible assets to determine
whether thete is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss (if any). When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable
and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corpotate assets atre also allocated to individual cash
generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.
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4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less cost to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset {or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, unless the
relevant asset is catried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation
decrease.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit)
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried
at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation inctease.

Financial instruments

Financial assefts
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost and fair
value through other comprehensive income (OCI).

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash
flow characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing them.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or fair value through OCI, it
needs to give rise to cash flows that are ‘solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)’ on the principal
amount outstanding. This assessment is referred to as the SPPI test and is performed at an instrument level.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in
order to generate cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting
contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both,

Subsequent measurement

For putposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in two categories:

® Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments); or

® Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI with no recycling of cumulative gains and losses
upon derecognition (equity instruments).

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

This categoty is the most televant to the Group. The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if
both of the following conditions are met:

® The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order
to collect contractual cash flows, and

® The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount cutstanding.
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4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments) (continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest (EIR) method and
are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost includes trade and most othert receivables, other investments,
bank balances and cash and other non-current financial assets.

Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI (equity instruments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably its equity investments as equity
instruments designated at fair value through OCI when they meet the definition of equity under IAS 32
Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. The classification is determined on an
instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to the consolidated statements of profit or
loss. Dividends are recognised as other income in the consolidated statement of profit or loss when the
right of payment has been established, except when the Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovety
of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case, such gains ate recorded in OCI. Equity instruments
designated at fair value through OCI ate not subject to impairment assessment.

Derecognition

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets)
is primatily derecognised (i.e., temoved from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position)
when:

® The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired, or

® The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation
to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
passthrough arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risks and rewards of
ownership.

When it has neither transferted nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of its
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset
and the associated liability ate measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group
has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the
lowet of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the

Group could be requited to repay.
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4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments not held at
fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from
the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events
that are possible within the next 12-months (a 12-month ECL).

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs.
Therefore, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based
on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its
historical credit loss expetience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtots and the
economic environment.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 60 days past due. However,
in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external
information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full
before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is wtitten off when
there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognidon, as payables, borrowings, or as derivatives designated
as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are trecognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and bortowings and
payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilides include finance lease liabilities, trade and most other payables, cash flow
hedge liability (derivative) and short term borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as described below:

Loans and borrowings

This is the category most relevant to the Group. After initial recognition, interest-beating loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost. The effective interest method is the method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through
the expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount
on initial recognition.
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4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities (conftinued)

Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or
expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability ate substandally modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as the derecogniton of the otiginal liability and the recognition of a new liability.
The difference in the respective catrying amounts is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit ot
loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilites are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated
statement of financial position if there is a cutrently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Fair value of financial instrumenis

The fair value of the financial instruments that are traded in active markets at each reporting date is
determined by reference to quoted market prices or dealer price quotations (bid price for long positions
and ask price for short positions), without any deduction for transaction costs.

For financial intstruments not traded in an active market, the fair value is determined using appropriate
valuation techniques. Such techniques may include:

e Using recent arm’s length market transactions;
e Reference to the current fair value of another instrument that is substantially the same; or
e A discounted cash flow analysis or other valuation models.

Derivative financial instruments

The management has applied hedge accounting for its derivative financial instruments. The management
applies hedge accounting only if all of the following conditions are met:

® There is formal designation and written documentation at the inception of the hedge;

® The effectiveness of the hedging relationship can be measuted reliably. This requires the fair value of
the hedging instrument, and the fair value or cash flows of the hedged item with respect to the risk being
hedged, to be reliably measurable;

® The hedge is expected to be highly effective in achieving fair value or cash flow offsets in accordance
with the original documented risk management strategy; and

® The hedge is assessed and determined to be highly effective on an ongoing basis throughout the hedge
relationship. A hedge is highly effective if changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument, and
changes in the fair value or expected cash flows of the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk.

At inception of the hedge, the management designate hedge either as a cash flow hedge or as a fair value
hedge. The designation is done at inception of the hedge. At inception of the hedge, the management
establishes formal documentation of the hedge relationship. The method an entity adopts depends on its
risk management strategy and hedge accounting systems and practices. The method that will be used in
measuring hedge effectiveness is specified in the hedge documentation.
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4 Summary of significant accounting policies {(continued)

Derivative financial instruments (continued)

The hedge documentation prepared at inception includes a description of the followings:
¢ Risk management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge;
® The nature of the risk being hedged;

® Clear identification of the hedged item - the asset, liability, firm commitment or cash flows arising from
a forecast transaction - and the hedging instrument; and

® How hedge effectiveness will be assessed both prospectively and retrospectively. The entity describes
the method and procedures in sufficient detail to establish a firm and consistent basis for measurement
in subsequent petiods for the particular hedge.

A hedging relationship meets the hedge effectiveness requirements if there is an economic relationship
between the hedged item and the hedging instrument, the effect of credit risk does not dominate the value
changes that result from the economic relationship and the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the
same as that resulting from the quantities of the hedged item that the entity actually hedge and the hedging
instrument uses to hedge that quantity of hedged item.

Under a cash flow hedge model, the effective portion of the fair value changes of the hedging instrument
is recognised in consolidated statement of other comprehensive income (OCI) and the ineffective portion
is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

In a fair value hedge, any ineffectiveness is automatically recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income because changes in the measurement of both the hedging instrument and the
hedged item are reported through the consolidated statement of comprehensive income except if the
hedging instrument hedges an equity investment for which the management has elected to present changes
in fair value in OCL

If a hedge no longer is effective, then hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively from the last date on
which the hedge was proven to be effective. Hedge accounting is also discontinued when the hedged item
or the hedging instrument is derecognised, the criteria are no longer met or upon voluntatily
discontinuation.

If the hedging instrument is a derivative, then the hedging instrument is measured at fair value, with the
effective portion of changes in its fair value recognised in OCI and presented within equity normally in a
hedging reserve. The ineffective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised
immediately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

If hedge accounting is not applied to a derivative instrument that is entered into as an economic hedge,
then derivative gains and losses are shown in the consolidated statements of other comprehensive income.

Provision for staff terminal benefits
Provision for employees' end of service benefits

Provision is made for the full amount of statutory gratuity due to employees for their period of service up
to the reporting date in accordance with the applicable labour laws. The gratuity provision is shown under
non-current liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position,

Defined contrabution plans

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed
contributions into a separate entity and has no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts,
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4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Provision for staff terminal benefits (continued)
Defined contribution plans (continued)

Obligations for conttibutions to defined contribution plans are expensed as the related service is provided.
Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in future
payments is available.

Contributions for eligible UAE National employees are made to the Pension Authority, in accordance with
the provisions of UAE labour Law No. (7) of 1999 relating to Pension and Social Security and charged to
the consolidated statement of comptehensive income in the petiod in which they fall due.

Aircraft maintenance
For the aircraft owned by the Group, maintenance accruals are made based on the technical evaluation.

For the aircraft under operating lease agreements, wherein the Group has an obligation to maintain the
aircraft, accruals are made during the lease term for the obligation based on estimated future costs of major
airframe and certain engine maintenance checks by making appropriate charges to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss calculated by reference to the number of hours or cycles operated and
engineering estimates.

Deferred income

Deferred income mainly represents unearned revenue from flight seats sold but not yet flown and will be
released to the consolidated statement of profit or loss when passengers are flown or time expired.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when present obligations as a result of a past event will probably lead to an
outflow of economic tesoutces from the Group and amounts can be estimated reliably. Timing or amount
of the outflow may still be uncertain. A present obligation arises from the presence of a legal or constructive
commitment that has resulted from past events, for example, legal disputes or onerous contracts. Provisions
are not recognised for futute operating losses. Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditure
required to settle the present obligation, based on the most reliable evidence available at the reporting date,
including the risks and uncertainties associated with the present obligation. Where there are a number of
similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering
the class of obligations as a whole, Provisions are discounted to their present values, where the time value
of money is material.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group’s revenue primatily detives from transportation services for both passengers and catgo, ticket
selling, accommodation income and dividend income. Revenue is recognized when the transportation,
tickets or accommodation ate provided. The Group considets whether it is an agent or a principal in
telation to transportation services by considering whether it has a performance obligation to provide
services to the customer or whether the obligation is to arrange for the services to be provided by a third

party.
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4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Rendering of services

Passenger tickets are generally paid for in advance of transportation and are recognised, net of discounts as
deferred revenue on ticket sales in current liabilities until the customer has flown. Unused tickets are
recognised as revenue after the contracted date of departure using estimates regarding the timing of
recognition based on the terms and conditions of the ticket and statistical analysis of historical
trends. Other revenue including maintenance; handling; hotel and holiday and commissions is tecognized
as the related performance obligation is satisfied over time using an appropriate methodology which reflects
the activity that has been undertaken to satisfy the related obligation.

Hotel revenue
Income from room hire is recognised on a pro-rata basis over the period of occupancy. Revenue from sale
of goods, food and beverages is recognised upon issuance of related sales invoices on delivery to guests and

customers.

Dividend income
Dividend from investments is recognised when the Group's right to receive payment has been established.

Finance income and finance costs

Finance income mainly comptises interest income on fixed deposits and investments. Interest income is
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss as it accrues, using the effective interest rate
method.

Finance costs mainly comprises interest expense on bank borrowings and finance lease obligations. All
borrowing costs are recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income using the effective
interest rate method. However, borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
construction of a qualifying asset are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. A qualifying asset is an
asset that necessarily takes a substantial petiod of time to get ready for its intended use or sale. Capitalisation
of borrowing costs ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the asset for its intended
use of sale are complete.

Operating expenses

Operating expenses ate recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss upon utilisation of the
service ot at the date of their origin.

Segmental reporting

Operating segments ate teported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief
operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-makers, who is responsible for resoutrce allocation
and assessing performance of the operating segments, are the Board of Directors and the Chief Executive
Officer.

Significant management judgment, estimates and assumptions in applying accounting
policies

When preparing the consolidated financial statements, management undertakes a number of judgment,
estimates and assumptions about recognition and measurement of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
The actual results may differ from the judgment, estimates and assumptions made by management, and will
seldom equal the estimated results.

Information about significant judgment, estimates and assumptions that have the most significant effect on
recognition and measurement of assets, liabilities, income and expenses is provided in the following pages:
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Significant management judgment, estimates and assumptions in applying accounting
policies (continued)

Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets
Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested annually for impairment and at other
times when such indications exist. The impairment calculation requires the use of estimates.

The intangible asset includes trade name, landing rights, price benefits from related parties and handling
license - Shatjah Aviadon Services LLC.

The recoverability of these assets is based on the Group's projected financial performance which are
underpinned by a number of assumptions. Such assumptions inherently involve significant judgments.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset ot cash generating unit exceeds its recoverable
amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. The fair value less costs
to sell calculation is based on available data from binding sales transactions in arm’s length transactions of
similar assets or observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. The value in
use calculation is based on a discounted cash flow model. The cash flows are detived from the budget for
the next five years and do not include restructuring activities that the Group is not yet committed to or
significant future investments that will enhance the asset’s performance of the CGU being tested. The
recoverable amount is most sensitive to the discount rate used for the discounted cash flow model as well
as the expected future cash-inflows and the growth rate used for extrapolation purposes.

Aircraft maintenance costs

The Group incurs liabilities for maintenance costs in respect of its owned aircrafts and leased aircraft. A
charge is made in the consolidated statement of profit or loss each month based on the number of flight
hours or cycles used to build up an accrual to cover the cost of heavy-duty maintenance checks when they
occut. Estimates involved in calculating the provision tequired include the expected date of the check,
martket conditions for heavy-duty maintenance checks at the expected date of check, the condition of asset
at the time of the check, the likely utilisation of the asset in terms of either flying hours or cycles, and the
regulations in relation to extensions to lives of life-limited parts, which form a significant proportion of the
cost of heavy-duty maintenance costs of engines. Additional maintenance costs for aircraft engines ate
consideted for accrual based on the estimates made by engineering department on the basis of operational
requirements.

In case of operating lease aitcraft, the Group is also required to pay maintenance resetves to lessors on a
monthly basis, based on usage. These maintenance resetves are then returned to the Group on production
of evidence that qualifying maintenance expenditure has been incurred. Maintenance resetves paid are
deducted from the accruals made. In some instances, not all of the maintenance reserves paid can be
recovered by the Group and, therefore, are retained by the lessor at the end of the lease term.

Assumptions made in respect of the basis of the accruals are reviewed for all aircraft once a year. In addition,
when further information becomes available which could materially change an estimate made, such as a
heavy-duty maintenance check taking place, utilisation assumptions changing, or return conditions being
re-negotiated, then specific estimates are reviewed immediately, and the accrual is reset accordingly.

Accrual for aircraft flying costs

The management accrues for the landing, patking, ground handling, and other charges applicable for each
airport in which the Group operates flights on a monthly basis. These estimates ate based on the rate of
charges applicable to each airport based on the agreements and recent invoices received for the services
obtained. Similatly, accruals for overflying charges are estimated based on the agreement entered with each
country. Actual charges may differ from the charges accrued and the differences are accounted for, on a
prospective basis.
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Significant management judgment, estimates and assumptions in applying accounting
policies (continued)

Current versus non-current classification
The Group presents assets and liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position based on
current,/non-current classification.

An asset is curtent when it is:

* Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in the normal operating cycle;

* Held primarily for the purpose of trading;

* Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting petiod; or

* Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least
twelve months after the reporting period.

All other assets are classified as non-current.

A liability is current when:

= Itis expected to be settled in the normal operating cycle;

» Itis held primarily for the purpose of trading;

* Itis due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period; or

* There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the
reporting petiod.

All other liabilities are classified as non-curtent.

Estimated useful life and residual value of property and equipment, right-of-use assets and
Intangible assets

The Group estimates the useful lives of property and equipment (except land), right-of-use assets and
intangible assets based on the period over which the assets are expected to be available for use or the lease
term. The estimated useful lives of property and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets are
reviewed periodically and are updated if expectations differ from previous estimates due to physical wear
and tear, technical or commercial obsolescence and legal or other limits on the use of the assets.

Deferred charges
The period of amortisation of the deferred charges is determined based on the pattern in which the future

economic benefits are expected to be consumed by the Group.

Allowance for expected credit losses for trade receivables and amounts due from related parties
The expected credit losses is based on assumption about risk of default and expected loss rates. The Group
uses judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based
on the Group’s past history, existing market conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the end of
each reporting period.

Determining lease terms
In determining the lease tetm, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an economic
incentive to exercise an extension option, or not exercise a termination option.

Extension options (ot periods after termination options) are only included in the lease term if the lease is
reasonably certain to be extended (or not terminated).
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Significant management judgment, estimates and assumptions in applying accounting
policies (continued)

Determining lease terms (continued)
The following factors ate normally the most relevant:

® If there are significant penalties to terminate (or not extend), the Group is typically reasonably
certain to extend (or not extend).

® If any leasehold improvements ate expected to have a significant remaining value the Group is
typically certain to extend (ot not extend).

®  Otherwise, the Group considers other factors including historical lease durations, costs and
business disruption required to replace the leased asset.

® The lease term is reassessed if an option is actually exercised (or not exercised) or the Group
becomes obliged to exercise (or not exercise) it. The assessment of reasonable certainty is only
revised if a significant event or a significant change in circumstances occurs, which affects this
assessment, and that is within the control of the lessee.
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5 Property and equipment (continued)

Buildings include hotel apartments, simulator and staff quarters. Simulator and staff quarters are
constructed on land in Sharjah, granted by the Government of Sharjah.

Property and equipment include one plot of land in Sharjah, granted by the Government of Shatjah
recognised at nominal value of AED 1.

As at December 31, 2021, wotk in progress represents various capital projects, mainly related to business
system, applications and building refurbishment, amounting to AED 22.88 million (2020: AED 36.39
million). Capital commitments related to these projects are minimal.

All of the Group's non-movable assets are located in the UAE, except for property and equipment with
carrying amount of AED 3.2 million (2020: AED 4.6 million), located outside UAE.

At December 31, 2021, aircrafts with carrying amount of AED 4.80 billion (2020: AED 5.22 billion) ate
held under finance lease (Note 23).

The Group's management conducted an internal assessment of its aircraft assets and considered if there are
any impairment indicators such as a detetioration in current ot forecast trade activity, the incurrence of
losses or other factors indicating that the assets may be impaired. Based on their assessment, the Group's
management is of the view that no indicators of impairment arose during 2021 (2020: AED Nil).

6 Right-of-use assets
Aircrafts Hangar Total

2021 AED '000 AED '000 AED '000
Gross carrying amount
At January 1, 2021 651,710 16,650 668,360
Additions 132,489 - 132,489
At December 31, 2021 784,199 16,650 800,849
Accumulated depreciation
At January 1, 2021 84,288 8,810 93,098
Charge for the year (Note 26) 82,529 832 83,301
At December 31, 2021 166,817 9,642 176,459
Net carrying amounts at

December 31, 2021 617,382 7,008 624,390

Aircrafts Hangar Total

2020 AED '000 AED '000 AED '000
Gross carrying amount
At January 1, 2020 382,191 16,650 398,841
Adjustment for lease modification 14,249 - 14,249
Additions 255,270 - 255,270
At December 31, 2020 651,710 16,650 668,360
Accumulated depreciation
At January 1, 2020 22,086 7,978 30,0604
Charge for the year (Note 26) 62,202 832 63,034
At December 31, 2020 84,288 8,810 93,098
Net carrying amounts at

December 31, 2020 567,422 7,840 575,262
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7 Advance for new aircraft

Advance for new aircrafts represents pre-delivery payments made to suppliers for an amount of AED 381.4
million (2020: AED 360.3 million) in respect of new aircrafts,

8 Investment properties

Investment properties represent certain units under construction in a building located in Dubai Marina, the
Emirate of Dubai, United Arab Emirates, amounting to AED 105.9 million as at December 31, 2021 (2020:
AED 105.9 million). The Building is approximately 50% complete as at December 31, 2021 (2020: 50%
complete).

Management estimates the fair value of investment properties as at December 31, 2021 to be AED 105
million (2020: AED 105 million).

During the year, the Group has not recognised any provision for impairment of the value of building (2020:
AED 19 million).

9 Intangible assets
2021 2020
AED '000 AED '000
Intangible assets * 1,133,609 1,125,584
Goodwill #** 198,522 198,522
At December 31, 1,332,131 1,324,106

During the year ended December 31, 2021, intangible assets and goodwill were subject to impairment tests
and management concluded that they are not impaired (2020: AED Nil).

* The movement in the intangible assets during the year can be reconciled as follows:

2021 2020

AED '000 AED '000

At Januaty 1, 1,125,584 1,113,950
Additions during the year 10,366 17,626
Write-off - (3,211)
Amortisation during the year (2,341) (2,781)
At December 31, 1,133,609 1,125,584

Certain intangible assets were arised from the acquisition of Air Arabia LLC in 2007, determined by an
independent valuer, summatied as follows:

2021 2020

AED '000 AED '000

Trade name 395,410 395,410
Landing rights 468,273 468,273
Price benefit from related parties 180,281 180,281
Handling license - Sharjah Aviation Services 48,383 48,383

1,092,347 1,092,347
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9 Intangible assets (continued)
** Goodwill comprises of the following:
2021 2020
AED '000 AED '000
Goodwill on acquisition of Air Arabia LLC *** 189,474 189,474
Goodwill on step acquisition of Information Systems Associates FZC 9,048 9,048
At December 31, 198,522 198,522

*#*+ Goodwill arising on of the acquisition of Air Arabia LLC in 2007, determined by an independent valuer,
was as follows:

AED '000

Total fair value of Air Arabia LLC 1,400,000
Fair value of intangible assets (1,092,347)
Fair value of tangible assets — net (118,179)
189,474

The Group, with support from an independent professional services firm, performed impairment tests on
goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives as of December 31, 2021 and 2020. The
recoverable amount of goodwill and intangible assets for impairment test purpose has been determined
using value-in-use calculations. For calculation putposes the Group's management prepared cash flow
projections for 5 years period, and applied a discount rate of between 11.61% to 11.86% (2020: 8.98% to

9.16%).

Cash flow projections during the forecast petiod are based on the expected gross matgins. The Group
believes that any reasonably possible change in the key assumptions on which recoverable amount is based
would not cause the aggregate cartying amount to exceed the aggregate recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit. Based on these calculations the Group is of the view that goodwill and intangible assets
are not impaired.

10 Deferred charges
Processing
Landing Alrcraft fee and
permission upgrade commission
charges costs costs BFE Total
2021 AED'000  AED'000 AED'000 AED'000  AED'000
Gross carrying amount
At January 1, 2021 51,745 35,073 27,086 19,768 133,672
Additions during the year - - - 3,935 3,935
At December 31, 2021 51,745 35,073 27,086 23,703 137,607
Accumulated amortisation
At January 1, 2021 51,745 31,599 14,049 2,803 100,196
Charge for the yeat - 1,521 2,152 2,773 6,446
At December 31, 2021 51,745 33,120 16,201 5,576 106,642
Net carrying amounts as at
December 31, 2021 - 1,953 10,885 18,127 30,965
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10 Deferred charges (continued)
Processing
Landing Aircraft fee and
permission upgrade commission
charges Costs costs BFE Total
2020 AED'000  AED'000 AED'000 AED'000  AED'000
Gross carrying amount
At January 1, 2020 51,745 35,073 27,086 11,997 125,901
Additions during the year - - - 7,771 7,771
At December 31, 2020 51,745 35,073 27,086 19,768 133,672
Accumulated amortisation
At January 1, 2020 51,745 30,079 11,823 693 94,340
Charge for the year - 1,520 2,226 2,110 5,856
At December 31, 2020 - 51,745 31,599 14,049 2,803 100,196
Net carrying amounts as at
December 31, 2020 - 3,474 13,037 16,965 33,476
BFE: Buyer-Furnished Equipment
11 Investments at fair value through other comprehensive income
2021 2020
AED ‘000 AED ‘000
Quoted in UAE 15,556 10,772
Movements during the year were as follow:
2021 2020
AED ‘000 AED 000
Opening balance 10,772 11,082
Disposal duting the year (3,607) -
Change in fair value 8,391 (310
15,556 10,772

The market rate as at December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020 are considered for the calculation of the

fair value of the investments that ate quoted on the stock exchange market.

12 Investments in associates and joint ventures
2021 2020
AED'000 AED'000
Investments in associates (Note 12.1) 81,619 27,775
Investments in joint ventures (Note 12.2) 96,330 64,882
177,949 92,657
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12 Investments in associates and joint ventures (continued)
12.1 Investments in associates

Investments in associates reptresent share in net assets of the associates at the reporting date as per equity
accounting principles, and the movements during the yeat are summarised as follows:

2021 2020

AED'000 AED'000

At January 1, 27,775 32,879

Share of profit/(loss) of Air Arabia Maroc S.A. 38,563 (9,196)

Share of profit of Tune Protection Commercial Brokerage LLC 17,156 4,092
Dividend received during the year from Tune Protection Commetcial

Brokerage LLC (1,875) -

At December 31, ) 81,619 27,775

12.2 Investments in joint ventures

Investments in joint ventures represent share in net assets of the joint ventures at the reporting date as per
equity accounting principles and the movements during the year are summarised below:

2021 2020
AED'000 AED'000
At January 1, 64,882 44,714
Investment in Fly Jinnah Services (Private) Limited 3,588 -
Investment in Air Arabia Abu Dhabi L.L.C - 35,997
Share of profit of Alpha Flight Services UAE. LLC 7,915 31
Share of profit/(loss) of Shatjah Aviation Services LLC 21,428 (7,171)
Share of profit/(loss) of Air Arabia Abu Dhabi L.L.C 997 (11,365)
Share of profit of Alpha Aviation Academy L.L.C 3,640 7,676
Dividends received from Alpha Aviation Academy L.L.C (6,120) -
Dividends received from Sharjah Aviaton Services LLC - (5,000)
At December 31,
96,330 64,882
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13 Categories of financial assets and liabilities

Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements provide a desctiption of each classification and
measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities and the related accounting policies. The carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities in each category are as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost
Trade and other receivables

Bank balances and cash

Other investment

Cash flow hedge assets (detivative)

Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Trade and other payables

Short term borrowings

Finance lease liabilities

Cash flow hedge liabilities (derivative)

2021 2020
AED'000 AED'000
576,356 485,692
3,878,006 3,148,943
. 50,000

273,072 2
15,556 10,772
4,742,990 3,695,407
3,287,820 2,764,598
37,634 551,948
3,236,607 3,732,287
- 624,460
6,562,061 7,673,293

A description of the Group’s financial statements risk, including risk management objectives and policies
is given in Note 34 and methods used to measure fair value are described in Note 35.

14 Trade and other receivables

Current assets

Financial assets:

Trade receivables, gross

Allowance for expected credit losses

Trade receivables, net

Cash flow hedge asset (Note 22)

Net investment in lease *

Amounts due from related parties (Note 15)
Advances and other receivables, net**

Noun-financial assets:
Prepaid aircraft lease rentals
Prepaid expenses — othets

Non-current assets

Financial asset:

Cash flow hedge asset (Note 22)
Net investment in lease *

Lease deposit receivable

2021 2020
AED'000 AED'000
255,423 230,249
(44,277) (17,020)
211,146 213,229
186,892 -
14,601 14,275
128,517 96,744
179,609 161,444
720,765 485,692
4,389 5,677
14,188 6,372
739,342 497,741
86,180 .
17,406 32,008
25,077 29,044
868,005 558,793
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14 Trade and other receivables (continued)

* Net investment in lease represents the present value of the minimum lease payment receivables. The
Group subleases one aircraft to Air Arabia Maroc, S.A., an associate. The Group has classified the
subleases as finance lease because the subleases are for the whole of the remaining term of head lease.

The following table sets out the lease receivables related to the subleases:

2021 2020

AED'000 AED'000

Not later than one yeat 14,601 14,275
Later than one year but not later than five year 17,406 32,008
At December 31, 32,007 46,283

As at December 31, 2021, all of the Group’s trade and other receivables have been reviewed for indicators
of impairment. Certain trade receivables and other receivables amounting to AED 44.27 million and AED
12 million, respectively, were found to be impaired (2020: AED 17 million and AED 12 million).

The movement in allowance for expected credit losses of trade receivables can be teconciled as follows:

2021 2020

AED'000 AED'000

As at Januvary 1, 17,020 19,553
Allowance for expected credit losses of trade receivables (Note 27) 27,257 2,856
Written-off during the year - (5,389
As at December 31, 44,277 17,020

** During the year, the Group has not recorded any allowance for expected credit loss of advances and

other receivables (2020: AED 12 million) (Note 27).

The ageing of trade receivables which ate not impaired at the reporting date are as follows:

Not Past due but not impaired
past due nor <60 60-90 >90
Total impaired Days Days Days
AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000
2021 211,146 206,978 3,045 329 794
2020 213,229 85,620 41,645 23,384 62,580

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally settled in within normal credit terms of 45 to
60 days after which they ate considered to be past due. Unimpaired accounts receivable are expected, on
the basis of past expetience, to be recoverable. Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the
potential customers' quality and defines credit limits for customer. Thete are 3 customers who represent

more than 23% (2020: more than 26%) of the total balance of trade receivables.

Majority of the trade receivables are from sales agents which are secured mainly by bank guarantees and

deposits.

The concentration of credit risk is limited due to the customer base being large and unrelated.
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15 Related parties

The Group in the normal course of business carries on transactions with other enterprises that fall within
the definition of related party. The Group’s related parties include key management personnel, entities held
under common control, associates, joint ventures and others. Transactions with related parties are carried
out in the normal course of business and are measured at exchange amounts, being the amounts agreed by
both the Board of Directors and the respected related party.

Transactions with related parties included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss are as follows:

2021 2020
AED'000 AED'000

Rental income from aircraft operating lease (Note 25) 195,420 161,432
Expenses recharged by related parties (31,813) (22,639)
Revenue from related parties 45,326 22,945
Management fees from joint ventures and associates (Note 29) 25,504 15,398
Income/(loss) from investments 89,522 (15,933)

Compensation of key management personnel

A number of key management personnel hold positions in the Group that result in them having control or
significant influence over the financial or operating activities. Compensation of key management personnel
are as follows:

2021 2020

AED'000 AED'000

Short term benefits 10,000 20,161
Long term benefits 620 592
Board of Directors' remuneration® - 5,875

* At the Annual General Meeting held on March 10, 2020, Board of Directors proposed, and the
shareholders approved Board of Directors' remuneration of AED 5.87 million for the year ended
December 31, 2019. During 2021, no remuneration was proposed for the Board of Directors for the year
ended December 31, 2020.

Balances with related parties included in the consolidated statement of financial position are as follows:

2021 2020
AED'000 AED'000

Amounts due from related parties: (Note 14)
Receivable from associates and joint ventures 69,150 89,321
Other related patties 59,367 7,423
128,517 96,744
2021 2020
AED'000 AED'000

Amounts due to related parties: (Note 21)

Payable to joint ventures 76,894 13,315
Other related parties 2,547 131,163
79,441 144 478

Amount due from/(to) related parties above are unsecured, bear no interest and have no fixed repayment
terms, The management considers these to be cutrent assets/current liabilities as appropiriate.
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16 Bank balances and cash

2021 2020
AED'000 AED'000
Bank balances
Fixed deposits* 2,729,241 2,433,045
Current accounts 854,747 362,067
Call deposits 287,251 347,946
3,871,239 3,143,058
Cash in hand 6,767 5,885
Bank balances and cash 3,878,006 3,148,943
*These deposits catty average interest rates of 2.06% (2020: 3.465%) per annum.,
16.1 Other investments at amortised cost
2021 2020
AED'000 AED'000
National Bonds - 50,000
- 50,000
Movement of investment in National Bonds duting the year can be reconciled as follows:
2021 2020
AED ‘000 AED ‘000
As at January 1, 50,000 150,000
Disposals during the year (50,000) (100,000)
As at December 31, - 50,000
17 Share capital
2021 2020
AED'000 AED'000
Authorised, issued and fully paid-up share capital
(4,666,700 thousand shares of AED 1 each) 4,666,700 4,666,700

Dividends

At the Annual General Meeting held on March 10, 2020, Board of Directors proposed, and the shareholders
apptoved a cash dividend of AED 420 million at AED 0.09 fils per share for the year ended December 31,

2019. During 2021, no dividend was proposed for the year ended December 31, 2020.

18 Statutory reserve

In accordance with the Company's Articles of Association and Article 103 of UAE Federal Law No. 2 of
2015, as amended, a minimum of 10% of the net profit for the year has to be transferred to the statutory
resetve. Such transfers are required to be made until the balance on the statutory reserve equals one half of
the Company’s paid-up shate capital. The reserve is not available for distribution except as provided for in

the UAE Federal Law.
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19 General reserve

In accordance with the Company's Articles of Association, an amount equal to 10% of the net profit for
the year is transferred to a general reserve. Transfers to this reserve shall stop by resolution of an Ordinary
General Assembly upon recommendation by the Boatd of Directors or when this reserve reaches 50% of
the paid-up capital of the Group. This reserve shall be utilised for the purposes determined by the General
Assembly at an ordinary meeting upon recommendation by the Board of Directors.

During the year ended December 31, 2020 and on the General Assembly dated March 10, 2020, the Board
of Directors proposed, and the Shareholders resolved to transfer an amount of AED 78,070,000 from
general reserve balance to retained earnings. No such transfer to reserve was made during the year ended
December 31, 2021.

20 Provision for staff terminal benefits
2021 2020
AED'000 AED'000
At January 1, 131,384 145,129
Charge for the year . 17,004 25,112
Payments made during the year (3,751) (38,857)
At December 31, 144,637 131,384
21 Trade and other payables
2021 2020
AED'000 AED'000
Financial liabilities
Maintenance liabilities 1,572,361 1,379,789
Cash flow hedge liability (Note 22) - 624,460
Accrued expenses 664,702 434,301
Other payables 680,483 459,117
Trade payables 253,797 309,877
Amounts due to related parties (Note 15) 79,441 144,478
Lease deposit payables 37,036 37,036
3,287,820 3,389,058
Non-financial liability
Advances from customers 32,532 39,008
3,320,352 3,428,066
Less:
Non-current liabilities
Maintenance liabilities 1,324,032 1,286,790
Cash flow hedge liability (Note 22) - 479,327
Lease deposit payable 26,007 26,007
1,350,039 1,792,124
Current liabilities 1,970,313 1,635,942

The Group has financial risk management policies in place to ensute that all payables are paid within the
credit period.
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22 Derivative financial instruments

Fuel derivatives

The Group uses derivative financial instruments for tisk management purposes.

Hedging instruments are measured at their fair value at the reporting date and the effective pottion of the
changes in their fair value is recognised in the consolidated statement of other comprehensive income, as

part of the cash flow hedge reserve in line with provisions of IFRS 9.

A loss of AED 67 million was recognised in 2020 relating to the ineffective portion of trade deals and the
settlement of the same in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, as patt of fuel costs (Note 26).

The Group has reassessed the hedging relationship as at reporting date and concluded that the forecast

transactions being hedged are highly probable to occur in the future.
Cash flow hedge (asset)/ liability is categorised into the following;

2021 2020
Term AED'000 Term AED'000

Non-current (asset)/liability
Commodity swaps, forwards options

and others 2023-2024 (86,180) 2022-2024 479,327
Current (asset)/liability
Commodity swaps, collars, forwards
options and others 2022 (186,892) 2021 145,143
Total (Note 14) (273,072) 624,460

23 Finance lease liabilities

The Group has entered into leasing arrangements with leasing companies to finance the purchase of the

aircraft. The terms of the leases are 9 - 15 years for aircrafts and hangar:

As at January 1,

Additions to lease liabilities for the year
Payments made during the year
Adjustment for lease modifications

Finance lease liabilities are disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial position as follows:

Non-current portion of finance lease liabilities
Cutrent portion of finance lease liabilities

2021 2020
AED'000 AED'000
3,732,287 3,692,474

131,645 256,881
(627,325) (231,317)
. 14,249
3,236,607 3,732,287
2021 2020
AED'000 AED'000
2,584,174 3,072,643
652,433 659,644
3,236,607 3,732,287

The finance lease liabilities ate secured by the associated leased aitcraft (Note 5).
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23 Finance lease liabilities (continued)

The lease agreements are subject to certain financial and operational covenants including compliance with
various regulations, restrictions on unapproved subleasing, insurance coverage and maintenance of total

debt to equity ratio.

Finance lease liabilities are payable as follows:

Not later than one year

Later than one year but not later than five year
Later than five years

At December 31,

The finance charges are calculated based on average interest rate of 2.99% (2020: 2.99%).

24 Short term bank borrowings

Shortt term bank borrowings

2021 2020
AED'000 AED'000
652,433 659,644
2,109,859 2,139,141
474,315 933,502
3,236,607 3,732,287
2021 2020
AED'000 AED'000
37,634 551,048

The Group has availed short term borrowing facilities from banks. These facilities carried interest at 0.65%
- 0.7%, and + 1-month LIBOR and 3-month EIBOR per annum (2020: 0.50% -1.4% + 1-month LIBOR

and 3-month EIBOR per annum).

During the year ended December 31, 2020, there had been an amendment to one of the facilities whereby
the maturity date for revolving term loan amounting to AED 331 million had been extended for a further

period of six months.

25 Revenue

Passenger revenue

Aircraft lease rentals - net (Note 15)
Other airline related services
Service revenue

Cargo revenue

Revenue from hotel operations
Baggage revenue

Sales commission and expenses

2021 2020
AED'000 AED'000
2,421,458 1,351,990

195,420 161,432
225,233 126,564
143,054 94,023
145,744 75,084
54,573 39,798
40,035 22,263
(51,395) (21,088)
3,174,122 1,850,966
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26 Direct costs

Depreciation of property and equipment (Note 5)
Fuel costs (Note 22)

Staff costs

Aircraft maintenance expenses

Landing and overflying charges

Passenger, ground and technical handling charges
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 6)
Other operating costs

Insurance

27 Administrative and general expenses

Staff costs

Allowance for expected credit losses of trade receivables (Note 14)
Depreciation of property and equipment (Note 5)

Legal and professional fees

Rent

Communication costs

Travel and accommodation costs

Provision for impairment of investment propetty (Note 8)

Allowance for expected credit losses of advances and other receivables

(Note 14)

Other administrative and general expenses

28 Selling and marketing expenses

Staff costs
Advertisement expenses
Resetvation management CXPCDSCS

29 Other income, net

Management fees from joint ventures and associates (Note 15)
Foreign currency exchange gains

Dividend income from others

Others

2021 2020
AED'000 AED'000
511,076 511,595
646,317 449 257
358,156 382,273
293,598 125,530
162,294 101,127
148,215 93,754
83,361 63,034
77,675 61,750
10,557 11,922
2,291,249 1,800,242
2021 2020
AED'000 AED'000
81,316 75,688
27,257 2,856
17,261 15,229
11,082 13,040
6,579 8,806
5,837 5,443
3,749 2,786
- 19,000
- 12,000
45,417 41,513
198,498 196,361
2021 2020
AED'000 AED'000
22,913 23,771
17,815 9,865
692 791
41,420 34,427
2021 2020
AED'000 AED'000
25,504 15,398
10,117 7,306
321 1,271
26,211 15,920
62,153 39,895
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30 Basic and diluted earnings/(losses) per share
2021 2020
AED'000 AED'000
Profit/ (loss) attributable to the Owners of the Company 719,927 (192,183)
Weighted average number of shares (in ‘000) 4,666,700 4,666,700
Basic and diluted earnings/ (losses) per share (AED) 0.15 0.04)
31 Operating lease commitments

31.1 The Group is a lessor:

As at December 31, 2021, the Group has leased out 15 aircrafts (2020: 15) under non-cancellable operating
lease agreements to related parties.

The leases have varying terms and renewal rights. The future minimum lease payments receivable under
non-cancellable operating leases contracted for at the reporting date but not recognised as receivables, are
shown below:

2021 2020

AED'000 AED'000

Within one year 162,307 180,702
Between 2 and 5 years 260,862 414,130
Above 5 years - 9,039
423,169 603,871

The carrying amount of the leased aircrafts owned by the Group under operating leases at the reporting
date are as follow:

2021 2020

AED'000 AED'000

Net book value 1,117,515 1,239,015
Accumulated depreciation 1,159,482 1,037,982
Depreciation charge for the year 121,501 121,501

32 Contingent liabilities

The Group have letters of guarantees and credits entered into as part of the normal course of business and
in connection with deposits against leased aircrafts amounting to AED 497.94 million as at December 31,
2021 (December 31, 2020: approximately AED 500 million), which at December 31, 2021 are not expected
to result in material losses for the Group in the foreseen future and not consider it probable that there will
be an outflow of economic resources with regard to these contingent liabilities.

33 Capital commitments
2021 2020
AED'000 AED'000
Authorised and contracted:
Aircraft fleet (Note 7) 23,434,297 23,455,383
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34 Financial instruments and risk management objectives and policies

The Group is exposed to various risks in relation to financial instruments. The main types of risks are
market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Group's risk management is coordinated at Group level, in close cooperation with the Board of
Directors, and focuses on actively securing the Group's shott to medium-term cash flows by minimising
the exposure to financial matkets.

The Group does not actively engage in the trading of financial assets for speculative purposes nor does it
write options. The most significant financial risks to which the Group is exposed are described below:

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a
result of changes in market prices whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual
security or its issuer or factors affecting all secutities traded in the market.

The Group is exposed to market tisk through its use of financial instruments and specifically to interest
rate risk and price risks, which result from both its operating and investing activities.

A Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market
interest rates

The Group adopts a policy of ongoing review of its exposure to changes in interest rate on its borrowings,
taking into account market expectations, the maturity profile and cash flows of the undetlying debt, and
the extent to which debt may potentially be either prepaid ptior to its maturity or refinanced at reduced
cost.

The Group is exposed to changes in market interest rates through fixed deposits, investments, call deposits,
finance lease liabilities and bank borrowings.

At the reporting date, the interest rate profile on the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments is as
follows:

2021 2020
AED'000 AED'000
Fixedrate
Financial assets
Fixed deposits 2,729,241 2,433,045
Call deposits 287,251 347,946
Investments - 50,000
3,016,492 2,830,991
Variable rate
Financial liabilities
Finance lease liabilities (3,236,607) (3,732,287)
Short-term bank borrowings (37,634) (551,948)

(3,274,241)  (4284235)
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34 Financial instruments and risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Market risk (continued)

A Interest rafe risk (continued)
Cash flow sensitivity analysis for vartiable rate instruments

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the Group’s profit and closing equity to a reasonably
possible change in interest rates of £1% (2020: £1%). These changes are considered to be reasonably
possible based on observation of current market conditions. Positive figures represent an increase in profit
or equity. The analysis below excludes interest capitalized and assumes that all other variables remain
constant.

Effect on Effect on
Profit/loss for the year Equity
AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000
+1% -1% +1% -1%
2021 (32,742) 32,742 (32,742) 32,742
2020 42,842 (42,842) (42,842) 42,842

ii. Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk in respect of its listed equity securities (see Note 11). For the
listed equity securities, an average volatility of 44% has been observed during 2021 (2020: 3%). This
volatility figure is considered to be a suitable basis for estimating how profit or loss and equity would have
been affected by changes in market risk that were reasonably possible at the reporting date. If the quoted
stock price for these secutities increased ot decreased by that amount, consolidated statements of other
comprehensive income and equity would have changed by AED 8.3 million (2020: AED 0.3 million). The
listed securities are classified as investments at fair value through other comprehensive income.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause
the other party to incur a financial loss.

The Group is exposed to this tisk for various financial instruments, for example trade receivables from
customers, placing deposits, etc. The Group's maximum exposure to credit risk is limited to the carrying
amount of financial assets recognised at the reporting date, as summarised below:

2021 2020

AED'000 AED'000

Bank balances and deposits 3,871,239 3,143,058
Trade and other receivables 576,356 485,692
Cash flow hedge asset 273,072 -
Other investments - 50,000
Investments measured at fair value through OCI 15,556 10,772
4,736,223 3,689,522
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34 Financial instruments and risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk (continued)
The following policies and procedute are in place to mitigate the Group’s exposure to credit risk:

Trade and other receivables

The Group seeks to limit its credit risk with respect to trade receivables by continuously monitoring the
terms of payments for the outstanding amounts. Trade and other receivables consist of a large number of
customers, spread across diverse industries and geographical areas.

Bank balances and deposits
The Group seeks to limit its credit risk with respect to banks by only dealing with reputable banks.

Jet fuel risk

The Group is exposed to volatility in the price of jet fuel and closely monitors the actual cost against the
forecast cost. To manage the price risk, the Group considers the use of commeodity fututes, options and
swaps to achieve a level of control over higher jet fuel costs so that profitability is not adversely affected.

Liquidity risk
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the availability of funding

through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities. Liquidity requirements are monitored on a
tegular basis and management ensures that sufficient funds are available to meet any future commitments.

The Group’s risk to liquidity is a result of the funds available to cover future commitments. The Group
manages liquidity risk through an on-going review of future commitments and credit facilities. Cash flow
forecasts are prepared and adequate utilisation of borrowing facilities are monitored, including the need for
additional botrtowings, as required. The Group has 30 to 90 days credit period from its vendors.

Summatrised below in the table is the maturity profile of financial liabilities and net settled derivative
financial liabilities based on the remaining period at the end of reporting period to the contractual maturity
date. The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

Contractual cash flows

Carrying Within More than
amount 1year 1year Total
AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000
2021
Finance lease liabilities 3,236,607 652,433 2,584,174 3,236,607
Trade and other payables 3,287,820 1,937,781 1,350,039 3,287,820
Short-term bank borrowings 37,634 37,634 - 37,634
Total 6,562,061 2,660,380 3,901,681 6,562,061
Contractual cash flows
Carrying Within  More than
amount 1 year 1 year Total
AED'000 AED'000  AED'000 AED'000
2020
Finance lease liabilities 3,732,287 664,966 3,109,258 3,774,224
Trade and other payables 2,803,607 1,516,817 1,286,790 2,803,607
Cash flow hedge liability 624,460 145,133 479,327 624,460
Short-term bank borrowings 551,948 551,948 - 551,948
Total 7712302 2878864 4875375 7,754,239
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35 Fair value measurement

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the consolidated statement of financial position are grouped
into three levels of fair value hierarchy. This grouping is determined based on the lowest level of significant
inputs used in fair value measurement, as follows:

® level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

e level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. detived from prices)

® level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on obsetvable market data (unobservable
inputs).

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability fall into different levels of the fair value

hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety in the same level of the fair value
hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entite measurement. )

The Group recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting petiod
during which the change has occurred.

The following table shows the Levels within the hierarchy of financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value on a recurring basis at December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
AED'000 AED'000 AED'000
At December 31, 2021
Financial asset
Investments at fair value through other

comprehensive income 15,556 - -
Cash flow hedge asset - 273,072 -
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
AED'000 AED'000 AED'000

At December 31, 2020

Financial asset
Investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income 10,772 = -

Financial liability
Cash flow hedge lability - 624,460 -

36 Segment Reporting

For management purposes, the Group is organised into two major reportable segments as follows:

e Airline

Includes international commercial air transportation, aircraft rental, passengers transport, cargo services,
aviation training and aircraft repairs and maintenance.

e  Other segments

Includes travel and tourist agencies, hotels, hotel apartment rentals, aitline companies, representative office
and documents transfer services.
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36 Segment Reporting (continued)

The following table presents revenue and profit information for the Group’s operating segments for the
year ended December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively:

Other
December 31, 2021 Airline segments Eliminations Total
AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000

Revenue
External sales 2,980,124 193,998 ~ 3,174,122
Inter-segment sales - 18,472 (18,472) -
Total revenue 2,980,124 212,470 (18,472) 3,174,122
Result
Segment result 623,594 6,634 - 630,228
Share of profit of investments in associates

and joint ventures 89,699
Profit for the year 719,927
Other information
Additions to property and equipment and

deferred charges 11,377 23,934 - 35,311
Depreciation and amortisation 603,940 21,092 - 625,032

Other
December 31, 2020 Airline segments Eliminations Total
AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000

Revenue
External sales 1,717,145 133,821 - 1,850,966
Inter-segment sales - 9,939 (9,939 -
Total revenue 1,717,145 143,160 9,939 1,850,966
Result
Segment result (209,139) 32,890 (176,249)
Share of loss of investments in associates

and joint ventures (15,934)
Loss for the year (192,183)

Other information
Additions to property and equipment and
deferred chatges 13,778 22912 - 36,690

598,495

Depreciation and amortisation 586,221 12,274

Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market prices.
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36 Segment Reporting (continued)

The following table presents assets and liabilities information for the Group’s operating segments as at
December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively:

Other
Aitline segments  Eliminations Total
AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000
December 31, 2021
Assets
Segment assets 10,063,700 703,059 (671,621) 10,095,138
Unallocated assets 3,211,189
Total assets 13,306,327
Liabilities
Segment liabilities 7,144,385 758,596 (671,619) 7,231,362
Other
Airline segments Eliminations Total
AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000
December 31, 2020
Assets
Segment assets 9,734,169 523,398 (534,199) 9,723,368
Unallocated assets 2,929,633
Total assets 12,653,001
Liabilities
Segment labilities 7,605,055 540,030 - 8,145,085

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies
described in Note 4. Segment result represents the profit earned by each segment without considering share
of profit/(loss) on equity accounted investments. Segment assets do not include fixed deposits,
investments, investment propetties and investment in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associate. Goodwill
and intangible assets have been allocated to the Airline segment.

37 Capital management policies and procedures

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensute that it maintains healthy capital ratios
in order to support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustment to it, in light of changes in business and
economic conditions ot to respond to any financial covenants. To maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the dividends payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new
shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or process duting the years ended December 31,
2021 and December 31, 2020. Capital includes share capital, statutory reserve, general teserve, other
reserves and retained earnings, and is measured at AED’000 6,074,966 as at December 31, 2021 (2020:
AED’000 4,507,916).
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38 Subsequent events

On January 31, 2022, the UAE Ministry of Finance announced the introduction of a 9% Federal Corporate
Tax rate effective for fiscal years commencing on or after June 1, 2023. There is no impact of this
announcement on the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended December 31,
2021. Management will assess the implications of this Federal Corporate Tax in due course.

There have been no other events subsequent to the consolidated statement of financial position date that
would significantly affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements as at and for the
year ended December 31, 2021.
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